IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William C. Tindal, Special Referee

---

Appellate Case No. 2013-002370

---

Ned Gregory, Jr., Respondent,

v.

Howell Jackson Gregory, The Gregory Company, Inc. and The City of Lancaster,  
Defendants,

Of whom Howell Jackson Gregory and The Gregory Company, Inc. are the  
Appellants.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

---

James T. Irvin, Jr., Esquire  
IRVIN LAW FIRM, LLC  
P. O. Box 2677  
Myrtle Beach, SC 29578-2677  
(843) 222-3228  
Attorney for The Gregory Company, Inc.  
Appellant

Howell Jackson Gregory  
P. O. Box 7111  
Myrtle Beach, SC 29572-0006

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

A. DOES RESPONDENT'S CONCEALMENT OF THE JUNE 10, 2008 FAULTY TRANSCRIPT OF JUDGMENT AND FAILING TO ATTACH A COPY TO THE COMPLAINT, AS IT OMITTS HIS CONCEDED SUM AT TRIAL OF \$7,940.00 THAT APPELLANT PAID FOR THE REMOVAL OF THE GAS TANKS FROM THE LANCASTER TRACT FROM BEING IMPLEMENTED THEREFROM, AS STATED IN THE CROSS ORDERS OF APRIL 25, 2006, THE LAW OF THE CASE, CREATE A NON FINAL JUDGMENT THAT THE SPECIAL REFEREE RELIES UPON IN ORDERING SALE OF LANCASTER TRACT PREMATURELY TO PAY A NON FINAL JUDGMENT THAT FAILS TO COMPLY WITH SC CODE ANN. 15-35-810 PROVIDING THAT A FINAL JUDGMENT IS NEEDED TO CREATE A LIEN?

B. MAY RESPONDENT USE A DEAD LIS PENDENS CLOTHED WITH FRAUD TO LITIGATE IN 2008 WITH A THIRD LIS PENDENS IN LANCASTER IN AN EFFORT TO BOOTSTRAP TO HIS PARTITION ACTION IN HORRY AFTER THE SECOND LIS PENDENS FILED IN 2002 AND IN VIOLATION OF SC CODE ANN. 15-11-50 THAT PROHIBITS REFILEING AFTER FIVE YEARS?

C. DOES A STATUTE OF ELIZABETH VIOLATION OCCUR WITH A DEED OF CONVEYANCE FROM THE Horry COUNTY MASTER IN EQUITY J. STANTON CROSS, JR., AS GRANTOR TO THE GREGORY COMPANY, INC., AS GRANTEE AFTER ORDER OF PARTITION, PUBLIC SALE AND HIGHEST BIDDER WAS APPELLANT WHO OWNED AN UNDIVIDED ONE-HALF INTEREST THEREIN AND WHO ASSIGNED BID TO HIS CORPORATION AND IT PAID MASTER IN EQUITY HIS REQUIREMENT OF ONE-HALF THE BID AMOUNT, PLUS COSTS, WHEN RESPONDENT SUBSEQUENTLY OBTAINS A FAULTY TRANSCRIPT OF JUDGMENT WITH FAVORABLE ERROR, SECRETES IT AND USES IT TO LITIGATE AGAINST APPELLANTS FOR THE EXTORTED SUM?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The case at bar is an outgrowth of the original partition action commenced by Respondent in 2000 in Lancaster County to force the sale of the real estate assets of the father of the parties who died testate in 1985 and after their mother's life estate ended in 1990. In 2001 the partition action was moved to Horry County (R. p. 1) to be heard by the Master in Equity J. Stanton Cross, Jr., as the real estate consisted of two tracts: Horry tract – a beach house in the city of Myrtle Beach and Lancaster tract - three vacant commercial buildings on South Main Street in the city of Lancaster. That following the Order of Partition by Master in Equity Cross in 2005 both tracts were sold at public auction.

The Horry tract was sold in May, 2005 to Appellant and closed with a deed of conveyance from Master in Equity Cross that year. The Lancaster tract was sold in June, 2005 to The Gregory Company, Inc. and closed with a deed of conveyance from Master in Equity Cross in 2006. (R. pp. 130-133) Appellant as owner of The Gregory Company, Inc. attended the sale in Lancaster and was the highest bidder (R. p. 137) and subsequently assigned the bid to his corporation (R. p. 133) and the corporation paid the required bid amount to the Horry County Master in Equity on April 28, 2006. (R. pp. 43-44) The deed (R. p. 130) and a plat (R. p. 149) were recorded in June, 2008.

Also in June, 2008 Respondent obtained a transcript of judgment (R. p. 33) from the Horry County Clerk of Court that was in error as it omitted certain setoffs awarded to Appellant by Master in Equity Cross in his orders of April 25, 2006 (R. pp. 2-4) and the Nunc Pro Tunc Order of August 10, 2006 for April 25, 2006. (R. p. 5) The error

amounted to \$25,517.99, plus two checks (R. p. 37) that were later conceded by Respondent and his counsel in May, 2013 before the successor Master in Equity Cynthia Graham Howe amounting to \$7,595.03. (R. p. 21)

The two orders of Master in Equity Cross in 2006 were not appealed and are the law of the partition case and contain a conceded sum of \$7,940.00 that is still omitted.

The current action was brought by Respondent in 2008 with the filing of a third lis pendens (R. p. 86) alleging fraud in the Cross deed of the Lancaster tract to The Gregory Company, Inc. which was later amended to a violation of the statute of Elizabeth claim on February 7, 2012 at a pre-trial hearing when the transcript of judgment was first presented to Appellants and which was not attached to the complaint as an exhibit.

A hearing in the matter resulted in the special referee adopting the judgment amount set by the successor Master in Equity Cynthia Graham Howe of Horry County which was in May, 2013 reduced by the conceded two checks to the sum of \$37,490.44. The hearing consisted of no witness testimony, but discussions with the special referee.

Following the hearing in the matter an order was issued by the special referee, William C. Tindal on April 30, 2013 (R. pp. 7-15) calling for the sale of the Lancaster tract at public auction holding that it violated the statute of Elizabeth. A Rule 59(e) motion was filed and later on October 31, 2013 (R. pp. 16-17) the denial of that motion was made and the \$37,490.44 was adopted as the judgment amount and the date of December 2, 2013 was set for the sales date. Subsequently, a petition for supercedeas was filed initially in The South Carolina Court of Appeals by Appellants that was denied and referred back to the special referee and after an expedited emergency hearing a stay of the sale was ordered.

That on December 6, 2013 Appellants filed a Motion for Consolidation of the case at bar with the appeal of the partition case as the judgment amount there is relied on here.

The Notice of Appeal was served and filed in this case on November 7, 2013 in The South Carolina Court of Appeals.

#### ARGUMENT

A. DOES RESPONDENT'S CONCEALMENT OF THE JUNE 10, 2008 FAULTY TRANSCRIPT OF JUDGMENT AND HIS FAILING TO ATTACH A COPY TO THE COMPLAINT, AS IT OMITTS HIS CONCEDED SUM AT TRIAL OF \$7,940.00 THAT APPELLANT PAID FOR THE REMOVAL OF THE GAS TANKS FROM THE LANCASTER TRACT, FROM BEING IMPLEMENTED THEREFROM, AS STATED IN THE CROSS ORDERS OF APRIL 25, 2006, THE LAW OF THE CASE, CREATE A NON FINAL JUDGMENT THAT THE SPECIAL REFEREE RELIES UPON IN ORDERING THE SALE OF THE LANCASTER TRACT PREMATURELY TO PAY A NON FINAL JUDGMENT AND FAILS TO COMPLY WITH SC CODE ANN. 15-35-810 PROVIDING THAT A FINAL JUDGMENT IS NEEDED TO CREATE A LIEN?

The Horry County Clerk of Court on June 10, 2008 created an omission error in transcribing the judgment in the 2000 partition case and thereby failed to include the awards to Appellant for \$25,517.99 that Master in Equity J. Stanton Cross, Jr. ordered in 2006 and credit from two checks presented to the Horry County Master in Equity on August 9, 2006 from Appellant and Respondent's counsel, Clifford L. Welsh. Appellants did not know of the omission error until February 7, 2012 (R. p. 128, lines 1-25 – p. 129,

lines 1-11) at a pre-trial conference in Lancaster with William C. Tindal, Special Referee who was appointed in 2009 (R. p. 6) to hear this new case brought by Respondent against Appellants asking the court to declare the Master in Equity deed of conveyance of the Lancaster tract to The Gregory Company, Inc. fraudulent on the basis that Appellant, the highest bidder at the public sale in 2005 assigned the bid to his corporation that paid one-half the bid to the Horry County Master in Equity on April 28, 2006 as he required, plus costs in the amount of \$93,925.00. (R. pp. 43-44)

At the time of the sale of the Lancaster tract in 2005 all three commercial buildings were vacant. That Appellant in 2004 hired Tod Snipes to put a new roof on the corner building to have that building removed from the city's condemned list and to avoid a one thousand dollar a day penalty. (R. p. 53, lines 1-3) The city of Lancaster condemned the building in 2003 (R. p. 52) and during 2004 an appeal of the condemnation was attempted to be scheduled by Richard Bowers, Lancaster Building Official with six letters (R. pp. 54-59) to counsel and the owners, but to no avail. Finally, Appellant after trying to work with Respondent in July, 2004 (R. pp. 134-135) and again in January, 2005 (R. p. 136) with faxed memos advising of a banker who would finance the work, but the two memos were totally ignored by Respondent, as Respondent remained silent, hired Tod Snipes to do the roof job per his two estimates. (R. pp. 50-51) Appellant in an effort to avoid waste of the family assets and proposed penalties from the city then got the work done and the Tod Snipes bill was paid in full in September, 2005 amounting to \$13,500.00 by The Gregory Company, Inc. and that payment was part of the omitted \$25,517.99 by the Horry Clerk. This payment was proved to Master in Equity Cross in a hearing on August 9, 2006 by a cancelled check dated 9-12-2005 from The Gregory

Company, Inc. to Dan D'Agostino, Esq. in the amount of \$15,500.00 with bank clearing date of 9-15-2005. (R. p. 49) Master in Equity Cross would not allow the extra \$2,000.00 for attorney's fees to be a part of Appellant's setoff award, but did approve and ordered the \$13,500.00 cost paid. (R. p. 5)

Also, during the five year period from 2005 to 2010 Appellants spent time and money rehabilitating the three buildings as the second building was condemned (R. p. 31) in 2008 and a new roof was installed to remove it also in 2009. Finally, the first tenant was housed in 2010 and the second in 2012 and now all three buildings are rented with long term leases of thirty years each and the two tenants have spent over \$35,000.00 each in making improvements to ensure their long term commitments. Appellants have polished this diamond in the rough from a liability to a cash generating asset and have garnered the praises of the city fathers for their efforts. The intersection of South Main Street and Chesterfield Avenue now is alive and vibrant and not the eyesore of the past decade.

Another omission from the erred transcript was the removal of the gas tanks by Appellant from the Lancaster tract that Respondent and his counsel, Clifford L. Welsh conceded at the trial of the partition case amounting to \$7,940.00. (R. p. 3) Respondent knew of this conceded sum and upon receipt of the faulty transcript from the Horry County Clerk of Court he hid it and did not attach a copy of it to his complaint on purpose alleging fraud in 2008 and secretly kept it out of sight until the pre-trial conference on February 7, 2012, (R. p. 42) nearly four years after receiving it in June, 2008. One can only imagine why this document was kept by Respondent under wraps for over forty-three months as he probably drooled over the interest he would be making at

11.25% on the escalated judgment amount. As an officer of the court Respondent should have known better and alerted the Horry County Clerk of Court of the error, but Respondent again remained silent and should be bound by his actions or better non-actions as he violated the equitable maxims that equity is as equity does or one who seeks equity must do equity. Respondent fails miserably under both counts.

A third omission from the Horry Clerk's transcript of judgment was Appellant's payment of the 2002, 2003 and 2004 Horry County real estate taxes on the Horry tract. This was proved to Master in Equity J. Stanton Cross, Jr. in May, 2006 at a hearing in chambers with counsel present and three cancelled checks were presented payable to the Horry County treasurer totaling \$4,077.99 and reflecting their bank clearing dates. (R. p. 63) Respondent's counsel Welsh even prepared two statements (Myrtle Beach Money per Order (R. p. 61) and Lancaster Property Sale (R. p. 62)) acknowledging the payments that were presented at the hearing and he later documented the event with a letter to all dated May 22, 2006. (R. p. 60)

The continuation of this faulty transcript of judgment lingers on and during 2013 an amendment (R. p. 36) on November 2, 2012 from the Horry Clerk was denied by successor Master in Equity Cynthia Graham Howe (R. pp. 18-20), even though Howe stated in open court on October 14, 2013 that she takes judicial notice that the June 10, 2008 transcript of judgment is in error. (R. p. 124, lines 13-17) All of this points to the fact that the current amount of the Horry judgment that the Lancaster special referee relies upon to base his ruling is nothing more than a non-final judgment and does not meet the standard set forth in SC Code Ann. 15-35-810 that requires a final judgment is needed to create a lien. Therefore, the non final judgment of \$37,490.44 is not a lien and

cannot be used to force the sale of real estate.

Also, Respondent creates a double standard in his use of a conceded sum when he and counsel during the trial of the partition case concede (R. p. 3) the gas tank removal sum of \$7,940.00 and during the April 25, 2013 hearing in Horry County he and counsel concede (R. p. 21) the sum of the two checks paid to the Horry County Master in Equity on August 9, 2006 totaling \$7,597.03; however, only one of those conceded sums have been credited for the benefit of Appellant when both are conceded. This double standard issue of conceded (R. p. 65) was presented to Howe in Appellant's Rule 59(e) motion of July 1, 2013 that was heard on October 14, 2013 (R. p. 117) (R. p. 126, line 22 – p. 129, line 25) and denied in her order dated October 17, 2013 (R. pp. 22-24) and is on appeal. Therefore, until all omitted sums are credited to Appellant then the judgment professed by successor Master in Equity Cynthia Graham Howe as \$37,490.44 is a non final judgment and presents a premature state of affairs as if falls short of creating a lien.

In the case of *Freeman v. Colwell Mortgage Corp.* 297 S.C. 335, 377 S.E.2d 108 (S.C. App. 1989) the Court states that under SC law, a judgment represents a judicial declaration that a judgment debtor is personally indebted to a judgment creditor for a sum of money citing *Ducker v. Standard Supply Co., Inc.*, 280 S.C. 157, 311 S.E.2d 728 (1984). In the *Freeman* case the trial court found the "Order for Judgment" did not become a final monetary judgment because the mobile home was repossessed.

In the case at bar the non final judgment is the byproduct of the Horry Clerk's omission on the June 10, 2008 transcript of judgment and the continued denial of a correction by the successor Master in Equity Cynthia Graham Howe by her actions in failing to implement the Appellant's setoffs from the orders of the partition case that were

not appealed and are the law of the case in 2006 as she is violating Rule 63, SCRPC by changing the orders of the prior Master in Equity after his retirement through her non implementation. (R. p. 120, lines 1-21) (R. pp. 77-81) “Rule 63 gives a successor judge no discretion to reweigh the evidence where the trial judge has made findings of fact supported by evidence in the record.”

Also, “there is a long standing rule in this state that one judge of the same court cannot overrule another...[A] successor judge may not substitute his own judgment for that of The trial judge...” Charleston County DSS v. Father, et al., 317 S.C. 283, 454 S.E.2d 307 at 312 and 310 (1995). If successor Master in Equity Howe had implemented the omitted setoffs in favor of Appellant then the non final judgment of \$37,490.44 would be reduced by \$25, 517.99 to the sum of \$11,972.45 which would result in a final judgment amount As established by the 2006 Cross orders which are the law of the partition case as neither were appealed. But, she fails to do so and Special Referee Tindal has been dealt with nothing more than a non final judgment which restricts his decision and makes it void.

Since Lancaster Special Referee, William C. Tindal relies upon the orders of the Horry County Master in Equity Court they must be visited in this appeal.

Master in Equity J. Stanton Cross, Jr. was fair and equitable in his two orders of 2006 by weighing the claims of the parties and he approved some, but not all of Respondents claims for rent and accounting \$42,959.47 and after a conceded sum by Respondent and his counsel at trial Appellant was awarded a setoff for the \$7,940.00 amount he spent for the removal of the gas tanks from the Lancaster tract (R. p. 3) and given the opportunity to prove, which he did, any additional amounts that Appellant paid for that Respondent did not contribute towards and those items were the new roof for the

Lancaster tract building in 2005 in amount of \$13,500.00 (R. pp. 49-51) (R. pp. 75-76) and the 2002, 2003 and 2004 Horry County real estate taxes totaling \$4,077.99 (R. pp. 63-73) for Appellants setoff amount of \$25,517.99. (R. p. 46) Obviously, the removal of the gas tanks and the erection of a new roof on the Lancaster tract were an improvement that prevented waste and helped to preserve the property.

In the case of *Ackerman v. Heard* 287 S.C. 626, 340 S.E.2d 560 (S.C. App. 1986) the Court held that a joint tenant who at his own expense, places permanent improvements upon common property is entitled in partition suit to compensation for improvements regardless of whether his cotenants assented thereto in order to prevent unjust enrichment. The *Ackerman* case said further that “compensation is allowed not as a matter of legal right, but purely from the desire of a court of equity to do justice...”

Such was the case in 2006 when Master in Equity Cross following the trial of the partition case executed the two 2006 orders that are now the law of the case as neither of the two orders were appealed. This standard was addressed in the case of *Judy v. Martin*, a South Carolina Supreme Court Opinion No. 26604, 674 S.E.2d 151 (2009) wherein it held “that Appellant may not seek relief from the prior unappealed order of the circuit court because the order has become the law of the case.” This is known as the law of the case doctrine and it applies with regard to the two 2006 Master in Equity Cross Orders.

At the public sale of the Lancaster tract in June, 2005 the high bid was \$170,000.00 after several bids were made. (R. p. 137) This was after the above mentioned improvements and at the time of the sale no buildings were under condemnation by the city of Lancaster. This effort was the result of Appellants taking action and doing what was necessary to make the Lancaster tract worth as much as it could be worth under the

circumstances then. One can imagine what the liability factor would have been if the gas tanks were still in the ground and the corner building was still under condemnation at the time of the sale.

Appellants improvements not only enhanced the value of the Lancaster tract at the public sale in 2005, but helped prevent the waster of the assets that are now producing an income. These positive actions by Appellants are not proof of fraud that Respondent claims in his lawsuit to have the now valuable property sold to pay his non final judgment that is the result of his silence and inaction and as an officer of the court his failure to help find the truth of the matter, but instead by hiding a faulty transcript of judgment nearly four years that is in error and the error is in his favor due to the omission by the clerk of court who is allowed to correct her error under Rule 60(a), SCRCF, but has been denied by an arbitrary (R. p. 123) successor Master in Equity (R. p. 121, lines 5-24) who violates Rule 63, SCRCF (R. pp. 80-81) even though she denies that she is violating Rule 63, SCRCF on October 14, 2013. (R. p. 147, lines 2-25)

Conceded is defined in Webster's Dictionary as "1. to admit as true, valid, certain, etc. 2. to grant as a right." For Special Referee Tindal in his two Lancaster orders to hold that a non final judgment amount from the Horry partition case of \$37,490.44 is final is his failure to utilize the applicable SC law in the case.

There have been several cases that have dealt with the term "conceded" in SC. The TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. of Revenue, 331 S.C. 611, 617, 503 S.E.2d 471, 474 (1998) Case held that "an issue conceded in a lower court may not be argued on appeal." This view has been quoted in recent cases of Historic Charleston Holdings, LLC v. Mallon, 365 S.C. 524, 617 S.E.2d 388 (S.C. App. 2005) and in Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding

Corp. dba Stokes Craven Ford, 387 S.C. 22, 691 S.E.2d 135 (S.C. 2010).

In the case of Solley v. Navy Federal Credit Union, Inc., 397 S.C. 192, 723 S.E.2d 597 (S.C. App. 2012) the Court equates conceded with a defaulting party in a lawsuit. By defaulting the Court says a defendant forfeits his “right to answer or otherwise plead to the complaint.” “In essence , the defaulting defendant has conceded liability. However, a defaulting defendant does not concede the [a]mount of liability.”

Other recent SC cases dealing with ‘conceded’ are: City of Greer v. Humble, 402 S.C. 609, 742 S.E.2d 15 (S.C. App. 2013) wherein the City ‘conceded’ the affidavit is deficient on its face and under prior law could not argue otherwise on appeal. In Curry v. Curry, 402 S.C. 388, 741 S.E.2d 558 (S.C. App. 2013) the wife ‘conceded’ Husband’s drinking did not prevent him from getting up and preparing her coffee and toast each morning, participating in housework and earning an income that supported their comfortable lifestyle. In Kiriakides v. Atlas Food Systems & Services, Inc., 338 S.C. 572, 527 S.E.2d 371 (S.C. App. 2000) when Atlas incorporated, the division of the shares of stock was handled and after George died his shares were split up, but Alex gave away his ten percent to the family. On cross examination however, Alex ‘conceded’ he had to go along with records showing John originally had 2360 shares and he had 2370 shares. In a statute of Elizabeth case Sumner v. Janicare, Inc., 294 S.C. 483, 366 S.E.2d 20 (S.C. App. 1988) Sumner ‘conceded’ the transfer was for valuable consideration.

The Special Referee’s two orders (April 30, 2013 (R. pp. 7-15) and October 31, 2013 (R. pp. 16-17)) for sale are premature of this valuable asset, the Lancaster tract, that has been enhanced, not by Respondent who claims fraud, but by Appellants who have expended time and money to transform the vacant and dilapidated Lancaster tract from a

non performing liability into an asset producing income during the five years following the purchase in 2005. The 2008 Respondent claim that a fraudulent transfer by Master in Equity Cross occurred is ludicrous with Respondent knowing that the 2006 orders of Cross (R. pp. 2-5) contain a conceded sum of \$7,940.00 that he and his counsel Welsh made at trial (R. p. 3) (R. p. 118, line 6 – p. 119, line 19) that was omitted from the faulty transcript of judgment that Respondent hid for nearly four years should be crystal clear evidence that the judgment amount from the Horry court is non final and a sale of the Lancaster tract is premature until a final judgment be determined.

From the case of *Bone v. U.S. Food Service*, 404 S.C. 67, 78, 744 S.E.2d 552, 558-9 (S.C. 2013) the SC Supreme Court said this Court's jurisprudence is in accord with the definition of a final judgment found in Black's Law Dictionary. It defines a final judgment as "[a] court's last action that settles the rights of the parties and disposes of all issues in controversy, except for the award of costs...and enforcement of the judgment." Black's Law Dictionary 919 (9<sup>th</sup> ed. 2009).

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