THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

William C. Tindal, Special Referee

---

Appellate Case No. 2013-002370

Ned Gregory, Jr., ..... Respondent,

v.

Howell Jackson Gregory, The Gregory Company, Inc.,  
and the City of Lancaster, ..... Defendants,

Of whom Howell Jackson Gregory and The Gregory Company, Inc., are the Appellants.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Palmer Freeman  
S.C. Bar No. 2132  
Post Office Box 8024  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 799-9400

Attorney for Respondent.

RECEIVED

SEP 23 2014

SC Court of Appeals

#

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

The amount of the partition accounting judgment entered on April 25, 2006 was \$45,087.47, less an offset of \$7,940.00. The Order for Judgment permitted the judgment debtor to apply for a single further offset — property taxes for three years. The judgment debtor failed to move for such an offset. Instead, he presented *ex parte* to the Master in Equity a list of further offsets which he sought. The Master's order purporting to grant two of those items and rejecting the others was void. In the orders under appeal, the Master correctly determined that the principal amount of the judgment is found in the Order of Judgment of April 25, 2006.

Judgment [R. 2] in the partition accounting was entered against the appellant on April 25, 2006. The judgment consisted of three components: (1) Myrtle Beach rent of \$20,900.00; (2) Lancaster properties upkeep of \$21,959.47; and (3) partition action costs reimbursable to the respondent of \$2,228. These three amounts total \$45,087.47. Against this total the court found the appellant entitled to an offset for his contribution of \$7,940.00 to Lancaster properties upkeep for removal of the gas tanks. Thus, the net amount of the judgment was \$37,147.47.<sup>7</sup>

In what proved to be an imprudent indulgence to the appellant, the Master in Equity — having heard all the evidence offered in two hearings on the partition accounting — gave the appellant the opportunity to make a post-judgment showing of another contribution to the upkeep of the properties, not proved at trial. The Master allowed the appellant to apply for a single additional offset for any Horry County property tax payments made by him for three specific years.

Instead of gathering evidence of any such tax payments not offered at trial and then moving for the belated offset, the appellant approached the Master *ex parte* with a laundry

---

<sup>7</sup> Much of the resulting confusion — and with it the opportunity for obfuscation — came from the fact that the order did not specify the amount of the judgment as a sum certain.

list of additional items claimed by him to have been contributed to the upkeep of the partitioned properties, not limited to the specified property taxes.<sup>8</sup> With no notice and no hearing, the Master issued a second order — the so-called “*nunc pro tunc*” order [R. 5] of August 10, 2006 — granting two additional offsets to the judgment entered on April 25, 2006. These were: (1) property taxes of \$4,077.99; and (2) \$13,500.00 for Lancaster roof repairs. Since no record of this *ex parte* conference exists, it is unknown what was said to the Master or shown to him. It is very safe to say, however, that the Master was not shown the Order of May 27, 2006 [R. 26] of Judge Goode, from which the \$13,500.00 figure derived. That order provided:

Now, Therefore, it is Ordered, Adjudged and Decreed that the amount paid in settlement by [Jack Gregory] to the Plaintiff [Sipes] shall not be charged against Ned Gregory as against his interest in the property, nor shall it be used as a set-off against Ned Gregory in the distribution of the proceeds of sale of the property herein, nor charged as a debt against Ned Gregory in any manner whatsoever.

[Order of May 27, 2006, in Case No. 2005-CP-29-141, p. 4, R. 29.]

When respondent’s attorney received word of the Order of August 10, 2006, respondent moved to alter or amend, but the motion was never heard.

The *ex parte* so-called *nunc pro tunc* order [R. 5] was void.

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals described the limited function of a *nunc pro tunc* order in these terms:

*Nunc pro tunc* literally means “Now for then.” *Maksymchuk v. Frank*, 987 F.2d 1072, 1075 n. 2 (4th Cir.1993) (quoting 67 C.J.S. at 1 (1978)). We previously defined the doctrine as “a procedure whereby a determination previously made, but for some reason improperly entered or expressed, may be corrected and entered as of the original time when it should have been, or when there has been an omission to enter it at all.” *Id.* (quoting 67 C.J.S. at 2). The purpose of an order entered *nunc pro tunc* is to correct mistakes or omissions in the record so that the record properly reflects the events that

---

<sup>8</sup> The appellant sought offset for various other amounts not identified in this record. Appellant told Judge Howe: “I did hand up to Judge Cross a list of all the expenses that I had incurred . . . .” [Hearing of 12/10/12, p. 14, R. 111.] Appellant gave the Master “a whole list of things”. [*Id.*, p. 51, R. 115.]

*actually took place.* It may not be used to retroactively record an event that never occurred or have the record reflect a fact that never existed. See *Ex parte Buskirk*, 72 F. 14, 20-21 (4th Cir.1896); see also *Rockingham Cnty. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Tate*, 202 N.C.App. 747, 751-52, 689 S.E.2d 913, 916-17 (2010). We explained long ago that “[t]he rule is now well established that *nunc pro tunc* orders cannot operate to modify orders theretofore made or to take the place of orders intended to be made but omitted. The courts can by such orders supply omissions in the record of what was actually done in the cause at a former time when it was under consideration, and by mistake or neglect not entered in the clerk’s minutes or the court’s records; but where the court has omitted to make an order which it could have made, and in fact intended to make, it cannot subsequently make the same *nunc pro tunc*, so as to make it binding upon the parties to the suit from the date when it was so intended to have been entered. . . .” *Buskirk*, 72 F. at 20-21. The passage of time has not altered the purpose and limitations of this rarely-used device. See *Maksymchuk*, 987 F.2d at 1075 n. 2.

*Glynn v. Wilmed Healthcare*, 699 F.3d 380, 383-84 (4th Cir. 2012). See: *Heins v. Heins*, 344 S.C. 146, 543 S.E.2d 224 (Ct. App. 2001); *Ex parte Strom*, 343 S.C. 257, 264-65, 539 S.E.2d 699, 702-03 (2000):

*Nunc pro tunc* orders can only be used to place in the record evidence of judicial action that has actually taken place. “A prerequisite for a *nunc pro tunc* order . . . is some previous action by the court that is not adequately reflected in its record.” *Deweese v. Sweeney*, 947 S.W.2d 861 (Tenn. Ct. App.1996), *app. den’d*, (1997); see also *Simmons v. Atlantic Coast Line R.R. Co.*, 235 F.Supp. 325, 330 (D.S.C. 1964) (*nunc pro tunc* entry cannot be made to serve the office of correcting a decision or of supplying non-action on the part of the court); *Carroll v. Carroll*, 338 S.W.2d 694, 695 (Ky. 1960) (“The error could not be corrected by *nunc pro tunc* order because such an order can be used only for the purpose of placing in the record evidence of judicial action that has actually been taken, not to correct an error or supply an omission of judicial action.”); 20 AM.JUR.2D *Courts* § 29 (1995) (the order cannot supply the record with action that the court failed to take).

In 2012 the appellant filed a motion [R. 32] to correct a “transcript of judgment” [R. 33] prepared by the Horry County Clerk of Court in 2008. Such a document is prepared to evidence the amount of a judgment for use in another venue or jurisdiction but has no power to change the actual judgment. In substance, the appellant’s motion was to determine the principal amount of the judgment against him, and only incidentally to correct

the transcript thereof if inaccurate, and that is how the Horry County Master in Equity treated the motion.

The appellant has failed in his duty to supply a record sufficient for deciding the issues presented by failing to procure a transcript of the hearing of his Horry County motion or any of its Rule 59 reiterations. See: *Windham v. Honeycutt*, 290 S.C. 60, 348 S.E.2d 185, 187 (Ct. App. 1986) (“The burden is on the appellant to furnish a sufficient record on appeal from which this court can make an intelligent review.”). On appeal he relies upon a concession made by the respondent at one of his Rule 59 hearings. The order of judgment of April 25, 2006 [R. 2] explicitly granted to the appellant an offset of \$7,940.00 for the contribution cost of gas tank removal. At the Rule 59 hearing on May 15, 2013, seven years later, the appellant claimed an additional offset for the amount of \$7,597.03, charged him by the court as interest for his year-long failure to satisfy his bid for the Lancaster properties.<sup>9</sup> [Order of August 10, 2006 [R.5]; Appellant’s Return [R. 146] dated 11/21/13 to Motion to Dismiss, p. 3: \$7,597.03 was “to end the Lancaster sale.”] This payment was wholly unrelated to any credit to which the appellant might have been entitled in the partition accounting as contribution to the upkeep of the jointly titled properties. Ironically, the respondent mistakenly conceded that the appellant was entitled to an offset in this amount.<sup>10</sup> Absent this mistaken concession, on no account would the appellant have been entitled to an offset against the partition accounting judgment for the interest he was required to pay, as purchaser at the Lancaster auction, on account of his delay in fulfilling his bid. That was a separate matter entirely. It would figure into the distribution of funds from the partition sale and the resulting accounting — *i.e.*, the **sale** accounting, not the **upkeep contribution** accounting. The appellant has presented no evidence of the

---

<sup>9</sup> Interest at the rate of 8.25% on half the successful bid for thirteen months was rounded to \$7,597.03. See letter of May 22, 2006 [R. 60] from Clifford Welch, Ned’s counsel, to Judge Cross.

<sup>10</sup> The number was similar to the \$7,940.00 offset for gas tank removal, granted to the appellant in the Order [R. 3] of April 25, 2006.

sale accounting, as to which there has been no challenge at any time.

Thus, the appellant benefits from a mistaken concession of an amount to which he had no claim for offset — but approximately equal to his contribution of gas tank removal expense, granted in the Order of April 25, 2006.

## II.

**The appellant's assignment to his wholly owned corporation of his right to take title to the Lancaster properties was voidable under the Statute of Elizabeth. The deed to the corporation was properly voided. Title was properly placed in the appellant personally and subjected to the claims of his judgment creditor.**

The appellant's principal claim against the orders issued in the Lancaster County Statute of Elizabeth action is that the 2006 Horry County judgment is "non-final", so that the court in the Statute of Elizabeth action erred in relying upon the Horry County court's determination of the principal amount of that judgment.

The Horry County judgment of 2006 [R. 2] is as final as a judgment can get. See: *Bone v. U.S. Food Services, Inc.*, 404 S.C. 67, 78, 744 S.E.2d 552, 558-59 (2013). Moreover, the respondent holds a second judgment against the appellant which is undisputed in amount. [R. 13, ¶ 3.] This judgment, too, is unpaid, and the appellant lacks the ability to satisfy this judgment, either. The Statute of Elizabeth court could have set aside the fraudulent conveyance to appellant's corporation solely in reliance upon this undisputed judgment without regard to the larger partition accounting judgment.

The appellant switches back and forth in his brief between whether he personally was the successful bidder<sup>11</sup> at the partition sale in 2006 or whether his corporation was. The only evidence is that the appellant Jack Gregory was the successful bidder. The Horry County order for auction specified that if a third party were the successful bidder, it would

---

<sup>11</sup> For example, "Appellant was the highest bidder and subsequently assigned his bid to his corporation . . . ." [Brief at 6.] The special referee "was correct in stating 'Mr. Jack Gregory bid in the Lancaster County property at the sale . . . ." [Brief at 22.]

be required to make a deposit of 5% and pay the balance in thirty days, but if either of the parties to the auction were successful, no deposit would be required. Jack Gregory was the successful bidder. He offered no deposit, and none was required. [R. 8.] The special referee who conducted the auction reported to the court that Jack Gregory **bid in** the property.<sup>12</sup> [Folks report, R. 137.] The appellant states in his brief that this report was correct. [Brief at 2.] The appellant's attorney averred that the appellant was the successful bidder and had assigned his bid. [Irvin affidavit, 11/8/06, R. 133.] When the appellant failed for eleven months to satisfy his successful bid, the court found that he had failed to do so and ordered re-auction. [R. 4.] When the appellant immediately made good his bid (with a check [R. 43] from his wholly owned corporation), his attorney prepared and submitted to the court a deed reciting that the appellant was the successful bidder and that he had assigned his bid to his corporation. [R. 133.] This version of what happened — which is the correct one — is found at various points in the appellant's brief.

It was of course the appellant's goal to avoid receiving title to the Lancaster properties which he had purchased at the partition auction so as to shield those assets from the judgments against him. Thus, the assignment was fraudulent, as was causing the court's deed to be issued to the corporation rather than to the appellant.

The Lancaster court committed no error in setting aside the assignment and the conveyance, and placing the property in the name of appellant Jack Gregory.

---

<sup>12</sup>

**BID. \* \* \***

—**Bid in.** Property sold at auction is said to be "bid in" by the owner or an incumbrancer or some one else who is interested in it, when he attends the sale and makes the successful bid.

BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 205 (4th ed. 1951). See, e.g., *Cloniger v. Cloniger*, 261 S.C. 603, 193 S.E.2d 647 (1973).

### III.

**A plaintiff who commences an action to void a deed to real estate under the Statute of Elizabeth is statutorily permitted to file a *lis pendens*.**